ORIGINAL

RECEIVED

MAY 29 2016

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Greenville County

Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

MICHAEL ANTONIO WILLIAMS,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-000091

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

LANELLE CANTEY DURANT
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1. Did the trial court err in allowing the state to admit testimony by the state's witnesses using the term "gang" in reference to Appellant Williams' case when Appellant Williams had not been identified as a gang member nor charged pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-8-230, the Gang Prevention Act, because the reference was inflammatory and unduly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE?
2. Did the trial court err by coercing Co-defendant DaQuan Bruster to testify incriminating Appellant by threatening to vacate his guilty plea so he would be facing LWOP because the judge found that Bruster's first testimony violated the plea agreement; and the judge vacated the guilty plea of Co-defendant Tavarus Holmes after his testimony because the judge said it violated his plea agreement?
3. Did the trial court err in denying a mistrial based on the fact that jurors from this trial were overheard by a juror in another case talking in the restroom during the lunch break about Williams' case saying such things as "the need to decode the language", "I was chillin," and "he's going down?"

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On May 29, 2012, the Greenville County Grand Jury indicted Michael Antonio Williams on seven counts of attempted murder, one count of conspiracy, and one count of assault and battery by mob second degree (A&B). On January 7, 2013, Williams proceeded to trial before the Honorable Edward W. Miller and a jury. He was tried along with three co-defendants.¹ Williams was represented by Scott Robinson; Esaiveus Booker was represented by Randy Chambers; Kinjta Sadler was represented by Thomas Quinn; and Raymond Young was represented by John Abdalla. The state was represented by Katrina Salisbury. The jury found Williams guilty of the seven attempted murders, conspiracy, and A&B by mob. He was found not guilty of the possession of a firearm during the commission of a crime of violence. R. 750, ll. 21 – R. 751, ll. 4. Judge Miller sentenced Williams to twenty –five years on each attempted murder charge, twenty years on the A&B by mob second degree, conspiracy five years with all sentences to run concurrently. R. 755, ll. 6 – R. 756, ll. 6. Williams' attorney filed a notice of appeal. This appeal follows.

¹ Eight people were arrested and charged with the same charges. Four pled guilty prior to trial with sentencing deferred. Supp. R. 1, 11.1 – Supp R. 3, ll. 25.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On July 17, 2011, around 3:30 in the early morning, a group of young people were at a Lil Cricket gas station in Greenville hanging out talking about a friend who had just been taken to the hospital because he was shot at the Red Planet night club earlier in the evening. R. 102, ll. 11 – 25. These young people were seated and standing around their cars while they talked. Suddenly, shots rang out in every direction. Seven people were shot with all requiring medical attention. R. 103, ll. 1 – 11. The victims could not identify the shooters as the faces of the shooters were covered. R. 518, ll. 2 – 17.

The assistant solicitor told the jury in her opening that eight young men were arrested and charged with attempted murder. Four of the eight were on trial and were also charged with conspiracy, possession of a weapon during a crime of violence, and assault and battery by a mob second degree. The solicitor believed that the defendants carried out their plan to park behind Lil Cricket, approach the gas station on foot, and open fire. R. 103, ll. 1 – R. 105, ll. 2.

The solicitor's version was that the reason for the shooting was that earlier that evening at the Red Planet Nightclub, some fights broke out in the parking lot and the defendants decided to retaliate by firing on the young men at the gas station. R. 103, ll. 7 – 16.

During pretrial motions, the state told the court that she had documents related to Defendant Young's gang affiliation that she planned to admit if they became relevant. Young's counsel argued that all of the defendants had a motion in limine to prevent the state from any mention of gangs or use of the word gang because the prejudicial effect outweighed any probative value. He argued that it would be very difficult for their clients to

have a fair trial if the jury related it to gangs. He said that either the state could prove the case without the mention of gangs or not because the evidence was either there or not. The judge asked for a foundation and counsel said he would get back to that the next morning to which the judge agreed. R. 70, ll. 1 – R. 68, ll. 22.

On the next day, January 8, 2013, defense counsel for Williams argued the motion shared by all the defendants regarding any reference by the state to gangs. Counsel argued that the state had not charged any of the co-defendants with being a criminal gang under S.C. Code Section 16-8-230 which was the Criminal Gang Prevention Act. This Act defined a criminal gang and a criminal gang member. The second part of his motion was that it was unduly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE and was inflammatory because just the word “gang” took on an inflammatory appeal to the passions of the average person. R. 90, ll. 20 – R. 92, ll. 23.

The judge responded that the term was “pretty wide open” and he could not rule in a vacuum. Counsel for Co-defendant Booker argued that the state intended to call as a witness investigator Brown whose sole job was to investigate gangs because the state had pursued this case as though these young men were part of the gang known as the Folk Nation. The defendants asked to stop that before it happened. R. 93, ll. 1 – 24.

The state argued that there was no charge related to section 16-8-230 so that definition was not controlling. The solicitor stated she was not alleging that the defendants “participated in a pattern of criminal gang activity.” But she said it could come out from witnesses that Co-defendant Young was the leader of the Folk Nation sect in Greenville. It could come out that the investigation was pursued as a gang involvement because the witnesses thought it was. Appellant is unaware of any law that the opinion of the witness

constitutes an evidentiary predicate to admit highly prejudicial matters. R. 95, ll. 1 – R. 96, ll. 25.

Defense counsel Robinson argued that any reference was also prevented under Rule 404(a) because it interjected the defendants' character into the evidence because the jury would think they were bad people if they heard the word gang. The judge ruled that he could not limit the state on that, but he would see how "it played out." R. 97, ll. 1 – R. 101, ll. 15.

After several witnesses testified, defense counsel Chambers for Co-defendant Booker, told the court that the state's next witness was investigator Brandon Brown who was with the gang investigation unit. Counsel asked that Investigator Brown identify himself only as an investigator with the Greenville County Sheriff's Office and not identify himself as a gang investigator. Counsel argued that no foundation was laid by the state that these men were member of a gang. The judge said that the exception was noted for the record. The judge also acknowledged that all of the attorneys for the defendants joined in the objection. R. 431, ll. 7 – R. 432, ll. 23.

Investigator Brandon Brown was the next witness for the state. He described himself as a "gang investigator assigned to the Federal Bureau of Investigation as a task force officer." He was contacted by Investigator Wayne Campbell to respond to the shooting at Lil Cricket due to the multiple shootings. His job was to collect information and try to determine from information he knew as a gang investigator that could further the matter for the lead investigator. R. 433, ll. 23 – R. 435, ll. 23.

Many witnesses did not want to talk to him as several witnesses referred to the defendants as "them Folk Boys." Witnesses said the shooters were all wearing black and were an organized group showing up together. Counsel Abdalla for Co-defendant Young

objected to the testimony regarding this “whole gang thing.” The judge overruled the objection. R. 437, ll. 1 – 23.

Investigator Brown continued to testify there was a picture on Facebook where Co-defendants Williams and Young were communicating, and there was a picture labeled “The Family.” R. 438, ll. 10 – R. 439, ll. 25. This appeared to be a club picture. R. 440, ll. 14 – 25.

The state then showed investigator Brown several photographs and asked about hand signs as related to gangs. Investigator Brown’s testimony was that hand signs were a popular way to identify gang members as they were universal signs. Several of them were in these photographs according to Brown. There were some signs associated specifically with the Folk Nation or the Gangster Disciples. He identified some of the defendants as exhibiting these signs in the photographs. R. 458, ll. 1 – R. 464, ll. 23.

One of the co-defendants, Larry Johnson, testified for the state that he was charged in this incident and pled guilty earlier to attempted murder and second degree assault and battery by a mob. His sentencing was deferred. R. 505, ll. 1 – 24. He went to the Red Planet and was with his friends which included the four co-defendants as well as Tavarus Holmes and Daquan Bruster. R. 506, ll. 1 – R. 507, ll. 23. Another friend, Brandon who was known as Black, was also there. Brandon and Michael Williams got into a fight outside the club with some other guys. Later, Johnson heard gunshots and he and his friends left. They met at another club, “864,” to discuss what happened. Then Johnson learned that Brandon (Black) and another friend Bamm-Bamm were shot. R. 513, ll. 1 – R. 515, ll. 25.

They were driving down White Horse road past Lil Cricket when Co-defendant Young said those guys at the Lil Cricket looked like the ones that shot Bamm-Bamm. They

returned to Club 864. Young told everyone who was going to come on. Young, Booker, Sadler, and Williams covered their faces with black tee-shirts. They all drove to Lil Cricket and parked behind it R. 516, ll. 1 – R. 520, ll. 7. Then they all got out of their cars except Johnson and ran up the hill to Lil Cricket and started shooting. He heard a lot of shots. Then they returned to the cars and they left. R. 522, ll. 3 – R. 523, ll. 25.

Johnson admitted on cross examination that he gave a statement to Investigator Campbell which he recanted on November 10, 2012. He admitted that he had made false accusation against the four co-defendants and also Holmes and Bruster. R. 536, ll. 20 – R. 542, ll. 3.

On redirect, when the solicitor asked why he wrote the letter from the jail recanting, Johnson said that more of the people from the gang were in the dorm with him telling him to recant. He was told he would be “xed” out if he did not recant. R. 549, ll. 23 – R. 551, ll. 11.

Another co-defendant, Shaquille Hogan, testified for the state that he was friends with the four co-defendants on trial. R. 553, ll. 1 – R. 555, ll. 5. He described going to the Red Planet. A fight occurred inside first and then outside where the shots were fired. R. 555, ll. 6 – R. 556, ll. 23. He told how they all went behind Lil Cricket. Hogan stayed at the cars because he had given his gun to Tavarus, and Johnson went with the group that fired shots. R. 561, ll. 1 – R. 563, ll. 25.

Hogan gave a statement to police implicating the four co-defendants on trial. He later gave another statement that his first statement was not true. He did plead guilty to assault and battery by mob second degree and conspiracy but had not been sentenced. R. 565, ll. 14 - R. 575, ll. 17.

A third co-defendant, Daquan Bruster, was called to testify for the state. He admitted that he pled guilty on the Monday before trial started to seven counts of attempted murder, conspiracy, assault and battery by mob second degree, and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. He testified that he did not remember the events of that night, and then “pled the Fifth.” The state received permission by the court to treat him as a hostile witness. He said he admitted these crimes because he just went with what the solicitor said. He did not understand that he was expected to testify. He said he did not want to testify. R. 588, ll. 19-R.591, ll. 21.

On cross examination Bruster admitted that he only pled guilty because he was facing life without parole if he did not plead. He had not been sentenced as of trial. After his testimony the judge, without any motion from the state, called for Bruster’s attorney. The judge told the attorney that he was giving Bruster a chance to withdraw his guilty plea because it was not valid if he did not remember. R. 591, ll. 22 – R. 594, ll. 9.

The state then called the fourth co-defendant, Tavarus Holmes, to testify for the state. On the witness stand, he said his attorney was not present and that he had no testimony. R. 595, ll. 15 – R. 596, ll. 8. The state told the judge that Holmes had pled guilty on Monday also to one count of attempted murder and had agreed to testify for the state as part of his plea. The judge, without a motion by the state, vacated Holmes’ plea and noted he would be tried on seven counts of attempted murder. R. 595, ll. 15 – R. 599, ll. 25.

Defense counsel Abdalla for Co-defendant Young, objected that the defendant was not receiving a fair trial if the co-defendant was being forced to testify by threatening to vacate his plea. The judge said that did not affect Abdalla’s client because the Co-defendant Holmes was backing out of his deal. R. 598, ll. 1 – 22.

The state then told the judge that the Co-defendant Bruster was there with his attorney and may have changed his mind. Defense counsel Abdalla objected to the coercive nature of the judge forcing the witness Bruster to come back and testify after he had already refused to testify. The judge responded that Bruster had violated his plea agreement and he was vacating his plea and would have to go to trial and face LWOP. Bruster's counsel said Bruster would testify. R. 600, ll. 22 – R. 601, ll. 25.

Counsel Chambers for Co-defendant Booker objected and argued to the court that their position was that once a person entered a plea, the plea could not be vacated just because the witness did not say what the state wanted him to say, and the witness could not be brought back and forced to testify. Counsel Quinn for Co-defendant Sadler objected to Bruster being recalled because he had been released as a witness. The concern was the court's coercive nature of compelling Bruster to withdraw his plea and face additional time. The judge stated that counsel's objection was noted for the record and said: "I assume everyone is in agreement with it." R. 602, ll. 1 – R. 605, ll. 10.

Bruster then testified for the state that he was at the incident at the Red Planet and Brandon Davis was shot in the back. Bruster went with Larry Johnson to Lil Cricket. Ten or eleven other people were there and Bruster covered his face as Johnson told him to do. Bruster did not know who the other ten or eleven people were because their faces were covered also. He admitted participating in the shooting, and admitted to pleading guilty. R. 605, ll. 12 – R. 610, ll. 8. On cross examination, Bruster admitted that he was told to testify or LWOP was back on the table. R. 612, ll. 1 – 11.

Early in the trial after several victim witnesses testified, the judge, in camera, had a bench conference with the attorneys. The judge then put the issue on the record. The judge

received a note from a juror in another trial that said: "I overheard jurors from Courtroom B discussing what sounded like details of their case. "Need to decode language; I was chillin; he's going down." R. 183, ll. 24 – R. 184, ll. 6.

The judge explained that a bench conference was held with the attorneys and the attorneys had a motion for a mistrial. The judge cited the case of State v. Aldret, 333 S.C. 307, 509 S.E.2d 811 (1999) which set forth the procedure to follow in cases of alleged juror premature deliberation which must establish prejudice. This procedure required a hearing to determine if it was premature deliberation and if it was prejudicial. If it was prejudicial, then a new trial was required. R. 184, ll. 6 – 25. The judge decided to discuss the problem with each of the jurors. R. 185, ll. 1 – 9.

Defense counsel Quinn for Co-defendant Sadler, moved for a mistrial with no further inquiry. The other three attorneys joined in the mistrial motion. Defense counsel's argument was that it was not known what else may have been said, and no witness had used the words "he's going down." Therefore, it sounded as though someone was going to be found guilty. R. 185, ll. 14 – R. 187, ll. 21.

The judge then questioned the jurors to determine if it happened as the question was fundamental fairness. R. 187, ll. 22 – 25. The judge then proceeded to question each of the jurors individually, and sent them back to a separate room so they could not discuss it. Defense counsel argued that the procedure was needed only if there was a motion in opposition to the mistrial motion. The judge decided the jury was under his jurisdiction and he was following the procedure because there may be a violation of fundamental fairness. R. 188, ll. 1 – 24. The judge said he would assume everyone joined in with what was said unless someone said something else. R. 189, ll. 1 – 6.

Juror Harper reported that what was discussed was sadness over some of the things heard. R. 189, ll. 7 – 22. Juror Ferguson stated that there was discussion about the initial charges and how long the trial would take. There was also talk about the behavior of some of the witnesses who had taken the stand which was mainly about demeanor, enunciation but no conclusions were drawn. R. 190, ll. 15 – R. 192, ll. 25. Juror Foxx reported that there was talk about the names and trying to get the names straight, and if they understood some of the conversations. R. 193, ll. 1 – 25. Juror Tutiven stated that there had been kind of a reflection on different facts such as names and how many people. R. 198, ll. 1 – 25. The other jurors basically said different versions of what had been reported by the others. R. 195, ll. 1 – R. 205, ll. 12. The judge then denied the motion for a mistrial saying he found no prejudice. R. 205, ll. 12 – 17.

Three of the defense attorneys objected to the hearing procedure and the manner in which it was conducted because defense counsel was not given the opportunity to establish an appellate record. He also argued the juror who sent the note should testify. R. 205, ll. 18 - R. 208, ll. 7. Defense counsel Robinson for Co-defendant Williams stated: "I don't disagree with the Court. I believe it was conducted properly." R. 207, ll. 3 – 5. The other defense attorneys joined in the objection. R. 207, ll. 6 – 7.

ARGUMENT

I

The trial court erred in allowing the state to admit testimony by the state's witnesses using the term "gang" in reference to Appellant Williams' case when Appellant Williams had not been identified as a gang member nor charged pursuant to S.C. Code Section 16-8-230, the Gang Prevention Act, because the reference was inflammatory and unduly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE.

The Gang Prevention Act at South Carolina Code Section 16-8-230 (2), provides that "criminal gang" means a formal or informal ongoing organization, association, or group that consists of five or more persons who form for the purpose of committing criminal activity and who knowingly and actively participate in a pattern of criminal gang activity.

Defense counsel argued that the state had not charged any of the defendants with being a member of a gang. The solicitor actually told the court that she was not alleging that the defendants participated in a pattern of criminal gang activity. R. 95, ll. 1 – R. 96, ll. 25. Therefore, the state conceded the defendants were not a gang.

In State v. Sobers, 404 S.C. 263, 744 S.E.2d 588 (Ct. App. 2013), the judge correctly found that evidence suggesting gang associations of murder victim and witnesses were irrelevant. Sobers, who was in his car, watched a fight between the victim and another young man in the midst of a crowd of people. He claimed that he fired shots when one of the young men approached his car and tried to start a fight. This was due to comments Sobers made about the man's sister. Sobers testified that the crowd swarmed his car and he fired shots. One bullet hit the victim in the back of his head as he sat in the back of another car.

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