ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GREENVILLE COUNTY
Edward W. Miller, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-000091

RECEIVED

FEB 04 2016

SC Court of Appeals
RESPONDENT

THE STATE,

v.

MICHAEL ANTONIO WILLIAMS,APPELLANT.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

J. BENJAMIN APLIN
Interim Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 8729

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-3727

W. WALTER WILKINS
Solicitor, Thirteenth Judicial Circuit

305 E. North Street, Suite 325
Greenville, South Carolina 29601
(864) 467-8647

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

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

Bloods. He was questioned about a recantation in which he claimed he had been coerced to give a statement to the police; however, he testified he was actually coerced to issue the recantation. (R.p.530-p.549). On redirect Johnson testified he recanted because of threats from people in the gang. He said Young wanted the recantation for trial or Johnson would get “x-ed.” Johnson testified he understood this to mean murdered and explained he feared for his safety. (R.p.549-p.551).

Co-defendant Shaquille Hogan

Hogan made in-court identifications of Booker, Williams, Young, and Sadler, all of whom he testified were at the RP on the night of July 16, 2011, along with Johnson and Holmes. He acknowledged the confrontation that happened inside the RP and posing for the photograph. Hogan testified he came in a green Camry with Booker but left his .380 in the car. He did not witness the fight in the parking lot; however, he went to Club 864 with Booker and Sadler when they were finally able to leave the RP. Hogan said Holmes ordered him to hand over his gun, which he did because Holmes has “more power.” He was told they were going to the LC. Hogan testified Johnson and Bruster were in a brown Altima, while Holmes, Williams, and Young were in a red car. They all parked behind the LC. The rest of the men got out of their cars but Hogan did not because he did not have a gun. Hogan heard gunshots and then the others came running back. He described each gun that was being used during the attack. Hogan denied meeting later in the Waffle House parking lot although this is what he said in his statement. (R.p.552-p.569). Under cross-examination, Hogan admitted that he also wrote a recantation. (R.p.569-p.585). On redirect Hogan testified he got the idea to recant from another inmate at the jail. (R.p.581-p.584).

Co-defendant Daquan Bruster

After briefly recalling Investigator Wayne Campbell in regard to details about the various guns that were described in Hogan's statement, (R.p.586-p.588), the State called Bruster to the stand. Bruster acknowledged pleading guilty to seven counts of attempted murder and possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime; however, he claimed he did not remember the events surrounding the shooting and attempted to "take the 5th." The solicitor asked to treat Bruster as a hostile witness and proceeded to question him about agreeing to the facts of the offenses when they were described at his plea. He admitted he did not want to testify and claimed he simply pled to whatever charges he was given. Under cross-examination Bruster testified he only pled guilty because the State had threatened him with life without parole and because his mother pled with him to do what the State wanted. He testified he did not know he would have to testify as a result of his guilty plea. The trial court then excused the jury and asked the solicitor to have Bruster's counsel come to the courtroom the following morning. The trial judge commented he would give Bruster a chance to withdraw his plea since he was now claiming he did not remember what happened, which would make the plea invalid. (R.p.588-p.594).

The following morning, the State called co-defendant Tavarus Holmes to the stand. Holmes made an in-court identification of Booker but then refused to answer any more questions without his attorney, Brian Beasley, present. The jury was sent out. After hearing from the solicitor about the terms of Holmes' plea deal, the trial judge vacated his plea, over Young's objection. Williams, Booker, and Sadler did not object. (R.p.595-p.599).

Next, Bruster's counsel advised the court that he had spoken with Bruster, and that to the extent of his knowledge, Bruster realized he was indeed guilty of the charges and would cooperate as to what he knows. Booker raised an objection. On behalf of all four defendants, he argued: "Our position is that once someone has entered a plea, that they can not be forced to withdraw that plea, that the plea cannot be vacated, that he came in here to testify after pleading guilty and just because he didn't say what they wanted him to say doesn't mean that he can now be brought back out here and essentially be forced to testify." The trial judge disagreed, noting that if this was true, it would allow someone to "game the system." The judge then called Bruster to the stand and explained he was going to give him another opportunity to testify truthfully, but that if Bruster continued to insist he could not remember what happened during the incident, the court would vacate his plea. Bruster said he would testify. (R.p.601-p.604).

Sadler objected to the State being allowed to recall Bruster as a witness, arguing the State had already had a full and fair opportunity to examine him. He again referenced what he called the "coercive nature" of the court's ability to compel withdrawal of the plea resulting in Bruster facing additional charges and additional time. The trial judge noted the objection for the record and noted that all defendants presumably joined in the motion before denying it and advising the defendants they were free to cross-examine Bruster about all of this. The jury reentered the courtroom and the State resumed examining Bruster. (R.p.604-p.605).

Bruster testified that although he did not remember everything that happened, he remembered some things from the RP and the LC. He was at the RP the night of July 16, 2011, and he left to go to the hospital when he heard Davis got shot in the back. He left

the hospital and went to the McDonalds near Club 864 where he got in a Cutlass with Johnson and rode with him to the LC. Bruster said he put a black shirt over his face and was carrying a .380. He testified he got out of the car at the LC with ten or eleven others, all of whom had their faces covered so he could not identify them. Bruster acknowledged that at his plea he admitted conspiring with Williams, Booker, Sadler, Young, Holmes, Hogan, and Johnson to attack the people at the LC; however, he testified he actually has no idea who was with him because their faces were covered. Bruster testified that he and Johnson got back in his car and went to the Waffle House. (R.p.605-p.613).

After playing portions of the security video from the Waffle House, the State rested. The defendants all moved for directed verdicts and those motions were denied. Each defendant then advised the trial court that he did not want to testify. Following a brief charge conference, the State and the defendants gave closing arguments. (R.p.614-p.619; Transcript - closing arguments, p.620-p.736). Finally, the trial court instructed the jurors on their role as the sole judges of the credibility of witnesses, the burden of proof, the presumption of innocence, reasonable doubt, direct and circumstantial evidence, and the elements of the crimes. (R.p.737-p.748). After being found guilty as charged, Williams was sentenced to twenty-five (25) years' concurrent imprisonment for each count of attempted murder, twenty (20) years' concurrent imprisonment for second-degree assault and battery by a mob, and five (5) years' concurrent imprisonment for conspiracy. (R. 759-785).

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial court properly admitted testimony from gang investigator Brown where: (1) it was relevant as part of the res gestae of the crime and as proof of identity, intent, and motive, and (2) its probative value outweighed any danger of unfair prejudice.

Williams argues the trial court erred in allowing the State to admit testimony from a witness using the term “gang” in reference to the investigation of his case because the word was inflammatory and unduly prejudicial under Rule 403, SCRE. He contends the danger of unfair prejudice substantially outweighed the probative value and prevented him from receiving a fair trial. Appellant further argues the solicitor then gave an improper and prejudicial closing argument because, although she did not actually use the word “gang,” several portions of her argument included references that were “clearly gang related.” (Brief of Appellant, p.16). The State disagrees and submits Williams’ arguments are without merit. Initially, the State notes Williams does not challenge relevance in his appeal, instead arguing that though relevant, the testimony should have been excluded as unduly prejudicial. However, the probative value of the testimony clearly outweighed any danger of unfair prejudice; therefore, it was properly admitted.

Standard of Review

The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge. State v. Gaster, 349 S.C. 545, 564 S.E.2d 87 (2002); State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240 (2001). A court’s ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error that results in prejudice to the defendant. State v. Douglas, 369 S.C. 424, 429, 632 S.E.2d 845, 847-848 (2006); State v. Rice, 375 S.C. 302, 314, 652 S.E.2d 409, 415 (Ct. App.

2007). An abuse of discretion occurs when the trial court's ruling is based on an error of law or a factual conclusion without evidentiary support. State v. Irick, 344 S.C. 460, 463, 545 S.E.2d 282, 284 (2001); State v. Mattison, 352 S.C. 577, 575 S.E.2d 852 (Ct. App. 2003).

Rule 401, SCRE: Relevance

As a general rule, all relevant evidence is admissible. State v. Aleksey, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000); Rule 402, SCRE. Evidence is relevant if it has a direct bearing upon and tends to establish or make more or less probable the matter in controversy. In the Matter of Care and Treatment of Corley, 353 S.C. 451, 577 S.E.2d 451 (2003); State v. King, 349 S.C. 142, 561 S.E.2d 640 (Ct. App. 2002); Rule 401, SCRE (“‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.”).

Here, evidence of Williams' gang affiliation was relevant and admissible as part of the res gestae of the crimes charged. See State v. McGee, 408 S.C. 278, 287-88, 758 S.E.2d 730, 735-36 (2014) (discussing the res gestae theory of admissibility). It was also probative as to why several State's witnesses initially recanted all or portions of the statements to law enforcement which identified Williams as one of the shooters. Furthermore, the identity of the individuals who committed the attempted murders was clearly of consequence to the jury's determination of guilt or innocence at trial, particularly where Williams presented a defense that the State could not prove he participated in the shootings. Brown's ability to connect the defendants to a local gang had a tendency to make the determination of the identity of the shooters more probable

than it would be without the testimony, particularly in the context of the State's theory of the case. Similarly, the testimony had a tendency to make a determination of motive and criminal intent more probable than it would have been without the testimony. The challenged evidence provided the answer to the question of why the attackers committed the shooting at the LC: their motive was to retaliate against the Hardliners, the rap group whose members had fought with and exchanged gunfire with Williams' gang earlier that night at the RP. Indeed, it was Brown, using his gang knowledge, who identified RP shooting victim Brandon Edwards as a close associate of Young. This connection fits squarely into the State's narrative that Young, Williams, Booker, Sadler, and the other gang members attacked the Hardliners at the LC in retaliation. Thus, as conceded by Williams in this appeal, Brown's testimony as a gang investigator was relevant. Rule 401, SCRE.

Rule 403, SCRE: Probative Value

“Although relevant, evidence may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE; State v. Cooley, 342 S.C. 63, 536 S.E.2d 666 (2000). “To show prejudice, there must be a reasonable probability that the jury's verdict was influenced by the challenged evidence.” State v. Lee, 399 S.C. 521, 527, 732 S.E.2d 225, 228 (Ct. App. 2012). Further, Rule 403, SCRE, requires there to be ‘unfair prejudice’ before the evidence will be excluded. “Unfair prejudice does not mean the damage to a defendant's case that results from the legitimate probative force of the evidence; rather it refers to evidence which tends to suggest a decision on an

improper basis.” Id. at 529, 732 S.E.2d at 229. A trial judge’s decision regarding the comparative probative value and prejudicial effect of evidence should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. State v. Adams, 354 S.C. 361, 378, 580 S.E.2d 785, 794 (Ct. App. 2003). The appellate courts review a trial court’s decision regarding Rule 403 pursuant to the abuse of discretion standard and are obligated to give great deference to the trial court’s judgment. Id. at 358, 543 S.E.2d at 593. See Aleksey, 343 S.C. at 35, 538 S.E.2d at 256 (finding the trial judge is given broad discretion in ruling on questions concerning relevancy of evidence, and his decision will be reversed only if there is a clear abuse of discretion). “If judicial self-restraint is ever desirable, it is when a Rule 403 analysis of a trial court is reviewed by an appellate tribunal.” State v. Hamilton, 344 S.C. 344, 358, 543 S.E.2d 586, 598 (Ct. App. 2001) overruled on other grounds by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005).

Here, the prejudice posited by Williams is vague. With reference to Rule 403, he simply claims that any evidence relating to the word “gang” is prejudicial and inflammatory and prevented him from receiving a fair trial. (Brief of Appellant, p.15). He relies on this Court’s opinion in State v. Sobers, 404 S.C. 263, 744 S.E.2d 588 (Ct. App. 2013) in support of his argument; however, Sobers dealt solely with a trial court’s ruling on relevance pursuant to Rule 401, not an analysis of prejudice. Id. Therefore, Sobers is not directly applicable. To the extent it does apply, Sobers stands for the proposition that deference must be given to the trial court regarding the admission or exclusion of evidence. Id. at 267-68, 744 S.E.2d at 590. Here, the trial court listened carefully to the defendants’ arguments and, after hearing testimony from many fact witnesses, determined the probative value of Brown’s testimony was significant. The

“unfair prejudice” claimed by Williams simply does not exist. Instead, the probative value of the testimony supports the trial court allowing it into evidence. Williams has shown no abuse of discretion and no exceptional circumstances to warrant reversing the trial court’s discretionary ruling to admit Investigator Brown’s testimony into evidence.

Because the testimony was properly admitted by the trial court, the solicitor’s reference to that testimony during closing arguments, either directly or implicitly, was likewise appropriate. See State v. Cooper, 334 S.C. 540, 553, 514 S.E.2d 584, 591 (1999) (“[A] solicitor has a right to state his version of the testimony and to comment on the weight to be given such testimony.”). Furthermore, even if the reference was somehow improper, it would not require reversal because Williams cannot show he did not receive a fair trial due to the alleged improper argument. Humphries v. State, 351 S.C. 362, 373, 570 S.E.2d 160, 166 (2002). Indeed, Williams could not have suffered unfair prejudice from the alleged inference that he was in a gang because the trial court thoroughly instructed the jurors on their role as the sole judges of the credibility of witnesses, the burden of proof, the presumption of innocence, reasonable doubt, direct and circumstantial evidence, and the elements of the crimes. (Tr.p.766-p.778). See Foye v. State, 335 S.C. 586, 590, n.1, 518 S.E.2d 265, 267 n.1 (1999) (“A jury is presumed to follow instructions.”). In any event, since none of the defendants objected to the solicitor’s closing argument, the challenge to that closing argument is not preserved for appellate review. State v. Carlson, 363 S.C. 586, 606, 611 S.E.2d 283, 283, 293 (Ct. App. 2005). Finally, given the direct evidence of Williams’ participation in the crimes as offered by his Hogan and Johnson, and the substantial circumstantial evidence of his

participation, the overwhelming evidence of Williams' guilt rendered any errors harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Williams' convictions should be affirmed.

II.

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